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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	WILLIAM H. WOODIN, 

                                 Employee, 

                                                 Claimant

v.

AGRIUM KENAI NITROGEN OPERATIONS,

                                 Employer,

and

AMERICAN INSURANCE CO,

                                 Insurer,

                                                 Defendants.

	)
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)
	INTERLOCUTORY

DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200023115
AWCB Decision No.  08-0136
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska 

on July 23, 2008


On June 4, 2008, at Anchorage, Alaska, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (board) heard the employee’s appeal of the February 12, 2007 and February 15, 2007 discovery decisions; and the employer’s petition to compel the employee to attend and cooperate in an employer-sponsored independent medical examination (EIME). The employee appeared and represented himself.  Attorney Robert Griffin, of Griffin & Smith, Anchorage, represented the employer Agrium and its insurer (“employer”).  The record closed at the conclusion of the hearing.


ISSUES
(1) 
Has the employee demonstrated actual bias or the appearance of partiality by the designated presiding officer sufficient to support to support vacation and remand of the discovery decisions made on February 12, 2007 and February 15, 2007?

(2)
Shall the board affirm the pre-hearing officer’s order compelling the employee to sign general medical releases?

(3) 
Shall the board affirm the pre-hearing officer’s order permitting the employer to designate an additional EIME without the employee’s written consent, and instructing the employee to cooperate in the EIME?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
From the extensive record in this case, the board summarizes the facts salient to this discovery dispute.  

A.
Summary of injury and medical evidence

The employee was working for the employer Agrium as a Chemical Plant Operator on October 5, 2000 when he reported injury.
  This injury occurred the same month that Agrium acquired the nitrogen fertilizer plant from predecessor owner Unocal.
  The employee began treating the next day with Gonzálo Fraser, MD of the Soldotna Medical Clinic.
 An MRI of the lumbar spine revealed a “moderate-sized posterior disk protrusion” at L4-L5, and a broad-based disc bulge at L5-S1 with “severe disk space narrowing” accompanied by hypertrophy, foraminal stenosis and signs of degenerative disk disease at both levels.
  

On October 16, 2000, the employee signed a general medical release,
 unrestricted in duration or body part, that was general and applicable to any and all medical providers.  This release was witnessed by the employee’s spouse, Sheryl Woodin.
  The employer accepted the compensability of the injury, and over the course of the next eight months paid the employee TTD and medical benefits.

The employee was referred for evaluation by neurologist Davis C. Peterson, MD of the Anchorage Fracture & Orthopedic Clinic,
 and was placed on modified duty with motion and lifting restrictions,
 pending full evaluation.  Dr. Fraser charted that the referral to 
Dr. Peterson was at the insurer’s request, with which Dr. Fraser agreed.
 

EMG studies of the lower extremities by Charles G. Perkins MD on November 21, 2000 were “essentially within normal limits.”  Dr. Perkins concluded: “Conduction velocities, central reflexes, and EMG do not support the diagnosis of radicular problems.”
 Dr. Peterson noted “advanced degenerative changes at L5-S1 with near autofusion,” a radial tear at L4-5 “but there is no extruded herniated nucleus pulposus,” a positive Spurling sign
 on the right with paresthesias in right thumb and index finger, with “unobtainable” biceps and brachioradialis reflexes on the right arm.
Dr. Peterson assessed (1) chronic low back pain after axial loading and possible aggravation of degenerative L4-5 disc, without radiculopathy or sciatica; and (2) rule out cervical disc herniation on the right with radiculitis, and possible right upper extremity radiculopathy “at the Co level.”
Dr. Peterson recommended a cervical MRI, and restricted the employee to “light duty” work with lifting, bending and twisting restrictions, with the restrictions applicable from December 12, 2000 to February 28, 2001.
  

A cervical MRI performed on January 3, 2001 noted a disk bulges at C3-4, C4-5, as well as “prominent canal stenosis” and “prominent foraminal stenosis” at multiple levels of the cervical spine.
  

The employee applied for another position, as “Wharf Operator,” and Dr. Peterson opined the employee was capable of performing the duties of that position.
  Agrium officials doubted whether Dr. Peterson accurately understood the duties of the position, and so a Job Analysis was performed of both Wharf Operator and the Chemical Plant Operator positions.

The employee underwent approximately six physical therapy sessions in October and November 2000. The employee reported slow improvement in symptoms both of the neck and lower back, as of January 29, 2001, taking only Aleve for pain at that time.  On that date, Lawrence Stinson, MD of the Advanced Pain Center of Alaska noted normal upper extremities with the exception of “decreased sensation involving the distal right lateral forearm to pinwheel and soft touch,” weakened deep tendon reflexes in the arms bilaterally, normal lower extremity function, and assessed “possible right C6 radiculopathy” and “discogenic pain with segmental instability at the L4-5 level.”  He recommended an intradiscal electro thermal therapy (IDETT) procedure.

Preliminary to the IDETT procedure, a “lumbar provocative discography followed by postdiscogram CT at L3-4, L4-5, and L5-S1” was performed by Dr. Stinson on February 13, 2001.  This procedure, involving injection of contrast dye into the discs, confirmed a “third degree annular tear” with spread of radiocontrast dye into the anterior epidural spaces at both L3-4 and L4-5.  At L5-S1, Dr. Stinson noted: “[t]he disc was noted to be tremendously degenerated without any significant retention of radiocontrast dye as it spread in an apparent circumferential manner around the disc area.”
  CT scan immediately following appears to confirm the discography findings.
  The employee was found to be a candidate for IDETT procedure, apparently at the L3-4 and L4-5 levels.
  Selective nerve root injection at C6 was performed on February 22, 2001, confirming the diagnosis of right C6 radiculopathy.

Apparently on referral from Dr. Stinson preliminary to the IDETT procedure, Mr. Woodin underwent a psychological evaluation on March 13, 2001.  Mr. Woodin was described as stoic in the face of his pain issues, with a high desire to provide for his family.  He was diagnosed with Adjustment Disorder with Anxiety due to financial stress of being off work, which was predicted to resolve on the employee’s return to work.  The employee was predicted to be cooperative with medical regimen for recovery from the IDETT procedure.  The employee was reporting strong desire to return to work as soon as possible.
  The insurer’s nurse case manager Sonja Roybal, RN expressed “employer and worker issues . .  . which require resolution” for the employee’s return to work.  Ms. Roybal describing the employee’s expressed desire to return to work, while the employer is described as having initially offering modified duty work through February 8, 2001, then stating there was no longer modified duty work after January 24, 2001.

Dr. Peterson on February 13, 2001 noted that “[t]here is the potential that in the future he may not be able to return to heavy laboring occupations but may need to be restricted to medium or less.”
  Both the Utility Plant Operator and the Wharf Operator position, although involving the requirement to understand and oversee complex chemical plant systems, also involved the potential for heavy manual duty, especially during some maintenance tasks and during a plant emergency, such as climbing tall ladders, negotiating tight spaces with twisting and bending, manually manipulating large valves against large forces, and the like.  The job analysis concluded that the employee would be assigned to logistics during declared plant emergencies.
  

The employee requested rehabilitation benefits on January 9, 2001, explained that he was then at work on modified duty, but uncertain about the direction his care would go.
  The Re-employment Benefits Administrator (RBA) found unusual and extenuating circumstances for the delay between initial report of injury and the date of this request, and referred the employee for an eligibility determination for re-employment benefits.

The employee underwent an employer-sponsored medical evaluation by Joel L. Seres, MD of Portland, Oregon on April 5, 2001.  The insurer’s instructions to Dr. Seres included that he “take a detailed history,” as well as express opinions on the work-relatedness, recommended therapies, medical stability, and extent of any permanent impairment, for both the lumbar and cervical conditions.
  After examination of the employee, described as initially wary but ultimately engaged in the evaluation, and on review of the medical records, Dr. Seres concluded that it was unlikely employee’s condition was caused by the compression of the employee’s head by hitting a beam.  “[I]t is clear in my mind that the patient did not have an acute disc herniation at C5-6 as a result of his industrial injury.”  Dr. Seres suggested that the findings of pain induced on injection of radiolucent dye at the L3-S1 levels was not probative in the absence of a placebo injection at the L2-3 level.  “Usually one likes to have at least one level be pain-free or non-concordant.”  Dr. Seres questioned the referral for IDETT procedure, concluding “chronic mechanical low back pain in association with degenerative joint disease at multiple levels” without neurological dysfunction, poor postural mechanics, and “no evidence of measureable impairment.”  Dr. Seres found the employee capable of returning to work at either the Wharf Operator or the Utility Plan Operator positions.
  Nurse Roybal also expressed the opinion the employee should return to work.
  

The insurer asked for explanation of the “minimal limitations” that Dr. Seres felt the employee would require upon return to work.
  Dr. Seres replied, after describing communication with
PA Walaszek of Agrium, that he had formed his opinions based on the employee’s description of the work, and that “[b]ased upon the information which I have obtained from Mr. Walaszek there appears to be a significant discrepancy here.  In order to be fair to Mr. Woodin, I feel that it would be appropriate to have a Physical Capacities Evaluation performed.”
  The results of physical capacities evaluation was that the employee was capable of heavy duty work at that time, noting that the employee’s physical capacity at that time “far exceeds the physical requirements” of the Wharf Operator or Refinery Operator positions.
  Dr. Fraser released the employee for work without restrictions.
  

The eligibility evaluation for re-employment benefits was terminated on May 25, 2001 due to the employee’s return to work without restrictions.
  Some time after May 2001, the employee stopped working for the employer Agrium, although the precise date and circumstances are not revealed by the current record.  There is no indication in the board’s file whether the employee underwent the recommended IDETT procedure at L3/4 or L4/5.

On March 15, 2002, board designee Workers’ Compensation Officer (WCO) Joireen Cohen wrote a letter “to whom it may concern” advising the employer (and by copy, the employee) of an employee’s right to freely choose a treating physician without coercion from the employer.  Our file does not reflect any documentation preceding this letter, but the letter recites Mr. Woodin’s description that in October 2000 he had been pressured by Agrium personnel into seeing a treating physician of PA Walaszek’s choice, against the employee’s wishes.

The board’s file was then quiescent on this reported injury until 2006.  Scant medical records are filed with the board for medical services performed after May 2001; what is on file is contained in three sets of documents: a set of medical records filed with the board attached to the Response to Informal Request for Production to the Insurer and or Adjuster (filed November 13, 2006), the Schilperoort EME Records (filed with the board February 14, 2007),
  and in a Medically Summary filed with the board on February 19, 2008.
  These records are summarized as follows:

On October 27, 2005, noted to be at the referral of Roy Boone, MD, evidently a physician of the Veteran’s Administration, an MRI was performed of the employee’s lumbar spine, revealing “moderate degenerative changes in the discs . . . at all levels,” including forminal stenosis present from L2 to S1, mild at all levels but “severe” at L4/5, with disc bulges at all levels, moderate and apparently unencroaching on nerve rootlets or the central canal, except at L4/5 with compromise of the exiting nerve rootlet at that level.
  This new MRI was compared with the earlier October 26, 2000 MRI, noting:

The previous examination demonstrated a broad based 3-4 mm disc protrusion at L4-5 and lesser disc disease at L3-4.  A severe loss of disc height is noted on the examination at the L5-S1 level with fibro-vascular changes for the adjacent endplate marrow.  Additionally, there is a mild 3 mm posterior subluxation of L5 on S1.  The previous examination shows that there is neural foraminal encroachment for disc disease at the L4-5 and L5-S1 levels.  Degenerative facet hypertrophy is also present at the L3-4 through L5-S1 levels.

The extent of disc disease is slightly greater at the L3-4 level.  The extent of neural foraminal encroachment at L4-5, severe on the right on the present examination, has also increased over the interval.  Also noted is increased disc protrusions [sic] anteriorly at the L4-5 level.

IMPRESSION: Significant interval progression of disc disease at the L4-5 level, now with severe right neural foraminal encroachment.
 

The employee was seen by Dr. Boone on January 4, 2006, Dr. Boone noting report of “right-sided symptoms” that have been “an off-and-on thing – but mostly on – over the last 3 years.”  The employee was informed he would need nerve conduction and EMG studies, and then to be seen by a neurosurgeon.  The note does not disclose what surgical options the doctor presented to the employee at that time.  The employee wanted to think about it before pursuing surgical options.
 

On March 30, 2006, the employee was seen by Dr. Fraser with complaints of continuing lumbar pain with occasional radiation to right leg, to the toes.  Dr. Fraser expressed the opinion that the symptoms described in 2006 were caused by the initial injury of 2000, and employee was referred for an EMG study.
  An EMG study was performed by Shawn Johnston, MD at the Alaska Spine Institute on May 4, 2006, with Dr. Johnston concluding no electrophysiologic evidence of lumbosacral radiculopathy, with nerve conduction studies all within normal limits.  Dr. Johnston did not rule out chemical radiculitis of the L4 nerve root, suggested an epidural steroid injection, and possible lumbar traction.

The employee reported continuing pain in his low back on May 12, 2006, and Dr. Fraser referred him again to Dr. Johnson at the Alaska Spine Institute.
  On May 17, 2006, the employee underwent epidural steroid injection at the right L4 level.
  On August 22, 2006, the employee reported trouble sleeping due to pain in his low back, but the employee reported in September 2006 the pain was more localized in his right hip and not progressing down his leg.
  On September 26, 2006, Dr. Fraser again referred the employee to Dr. Johnston for an epidural injection of the low back;  on October 6, 2006, the employee underwent a steroid injection of his right sacroiliac joint.
  

B.  Attempted Schilperoort medical evaluation:

On or about March 22, 2006, the employer through its insurer arranged for an examination by Steven J. Schilperoort, MD, directing Dr. Schilperoort to express opinions as to: 

· current diagnosis; 

· whether current diagnosed conditions were work-related or instead the result of non-occupational activities; 

· whether further diagnostic tests were recommended; 

· whether the employee was medically stable; 

· if stable, to express a view on any percentage of permanent impairment; and

· the medical necessity of non-narcotic medications.
  

The engagement letter for this examination included a summary of the initial report of injury and subsequent treatment through May 2001, and a summary of the MRI performed in 2005 at
Dr. Boone’s request.  The adjuster’s summary in the engagement letter did not describe any chart notes or treatment performed by any provider from May 2001 to October 2005, and did not describe any chart notes or treatment performed by Dr. Fraser or Dr. Johnston in 2005 or 2006.
  There is no medical documentation, in either of the three sources of medical documentation on file with the board, of any medical treatment of the employee’s condition from May 2001 to October 2005.

The employee traveled to Dr. Schilperoort’s office for the examination, apparently in Anchorage, but the examination was not completed.  The employee described the physician as disrespectful, arrogant, aggressive, hostile, and biased.
  The doctor described the employee as non-cooperative, angry with an escalating tone of voice, and after the examination encounter was concluded, harassing.  The doctor wrote: “Mr. Woodin refused to answer any questions regarding the nature of his injury, the nature of his work activities, either in the past or currently, or any of his past medical or socioeconomic history.”  Dr. Schilperoort terminated the attempted examination after the employee objected to the presence of a chaperone during a physical examination.  As a result, no physical examination was performed.  Dr. Schilperoort wrote that, to protect his Anchorage office staff from further contact with Mr. Woodin, that he refused to continue or otherwise complete the employer-sponsored evaluation.

Apparently unbeknownst to Dr. Schilperoort, the employee secretly audio taped this meeting between himself and Dr. Schilperoort.
  A purported transcript of the meeting was filed on February 27, 2008, and was not objected to nor was a request for cross-examination filed.
  The board has reviewed the transcript in its entirety, and it shows that Dr. Schilperoort never got beyond the basic questions of asking the employee for whom he was working when he was injured, asking the employee to describe the event of his injury, and asking the employee if his condition had changed since the injury.  The doctor stated that he had reviewed the medical records provided to him, but insisted on asking basic questions, and obtaining basic answers, about the inception of the injury anyway.  In essence the employee’s response to each of these questions was to refer to his medical record as compiled by the adjuster.
  Dr. Schilperoort never progressed to asking questions about history of medical treatment received between 2001 and 2006.  Dr. Schilperoort did attempt to ask questions about the employee’s current state of pain, but by that time in the interview, the transcript seems to show the doctor flustered and unable to focus, the employee having adamantly refused to give an oral medical history and insisting that the doctor rely on the written medical records.  The doctor then left the room so the employee could change into shorts for a physical examination.  When the doctor arrived to conduct a physical exam, he brought a “chaperone” to observe the exam, identified as “Mike Thomas,” whom the employee objected to, saying “You’re not welcome here,” and so Dr. Schilperoort cancelled the examination.

Following the attempted examination by Dr. Schilperoort, the employer on September 27, 2006 controverted all benefits under AS 23.30.095(e), asserting the employee “failed to attend” the evaluation.
  We take administrative notice that Dr. Schilperoort died on July 15, 2008.

C.
Procedural history of current claims and petitions:

The employee, acting pro se, has filed fourteen pending claims or petitions:

(1) Unfair and frivolous controversion as to the 9/27/06 controversion (dated 10/5/06; filed 10/6/06)

(2) Petition to compel informal discovery of correspondence between Crawford Services, Fireman’s Fund Insurance Co., and Dr. Schilperoort (dated 10/5/06; filed 10/6/06)

(3) Workers’ Compensation Claim (WCC) for transportation expense ($219.05), penalty, and interest (dated 10/13/06, filed 10/17/06)

(4) Petition for protective order on five specified releases (dated 10/21/06, filed 10/25/06)

(5) Petition appealing rulings of pre-hearing conference held on 2/13/07 (dated 2/26/07, filed 2/28/07)

(6) Petition appealing rulings of pre-hearing conference held on 2/15/07 (dated 2/26/07, filed 2/28/07)

(7) WCC for medical costs ($1,250), penalty ($312.50), and interest (dated 3/2/07 and 3/5/07, 
 filed 3/8/07)

(8) WCC for medical costs (unspecified), penalty ($67.50) (dated 3/2/07 and 3/5/07, filed 3/8/07)

(9) WCC for transport costs ($227.12), penalty ($56.78), and interest (dated 3/2/07 and 3/5/07, filed 3/8/07)

(10) WCC for medical costs ($2,090), penalty ($5322.50), and interest (dated 3/2/07 and 3/5/07, filed 3/8/07)

(11) Unfair and frivolous controversion, apparently as to 10/30/06 controversion, and re-stated as to the 9/27/06 controversion (dated 3/2/07 and 3/5/07, filed 3/8/07)

(12) Petition for a Continuance of the Scheduled March 19, 2008 AWCB Hearing (dated 2/21/08, filed 2/27/08)

(13) Petition for termination of WCO M.E. Walsh (dated 2/21/08, filed 2/27/08)

(14) Petition for consolidation of “all matters” relative to the employee’s claims to be heard at a single hearing (dated 2/21/08, filed 2/27/08)

The employer has filed the following unresolved petitions:

(1) Petition to compel the employee to participate in EIME (dated 10/30/06, filed 11/1/06)

The parties agreed to continue a pre-hearing conference, originally noticed for January 16, 2007,
 to February 13, 2007.
  On February 13, 2007, the parties met with board designee Workers’ Compensation Officer (WCO) Maria Elena Walsh in a pre-hearing conference.  Apparently unknown to both Ms. Niemann and WCO Walsh, the employee also secretly audio-taped the February 13, 2007 and February 15, 2007 pre-hearing conferences.
The employee’s requests for informal discovery and certain medical releases were discussed.  WCO Walsh declared that the employee had expressed “satisfaction” with documents produced by the employer’s counsel in response to his informal discovery requests.
 The parties and WCO Walsh discussed five releases the employer had sought, with the parties reaching agreement on all but the “general medical release,” which Ms. Walsh ordered the employee to sign.
  There was much colloquy over the releases, with the employer objecting to releases tendered by the employee as “not HIPAA compliant,” and the employee objecting to the releases tendered by the employer’s representative as overbroad, violative of his privacy, and misleading.  In response to Ms. Niemann’s argument that the releases the employee had already provided were not HIPAA compliant, the employee produced a copy of a letter from a Griffin & Smith paralegal attempting to use those releases to obtain medical records; the cover letter asks for a “laundry list” of medical records (including psychiatric, psychological and drug/alcohol abuse treatment records) that the attached release apparently did not authorize for release.
  Thus the employee objected to the employer’s counsel’s misleading practice of asking from his providers for more information (in it’s cover letter) than the attached release actually authorized.  The February 13, 2007 pre-hearing did not resolve all outstanding issues, and so it was continued to February 15, 2007.
  

On February 14, 2007, the employer served and filed a copy of its October 24, 2006 document production to the employee consisting of “all documents that were forwarded to Impartial Medical Opinions associated with the May 2006 Employer’s Independent Medical Evaluation” with
Dr. Schilperoort (i.e., the Schilperoort EIME Records).
  On February 15, 2007, the employer’s representative filed a letter of apology regarding a statement made during the February 13, 2007 pre-hearing conference regarding medical releases.

The parties met again with WCO Walsh telephonically on February 15, 2007.  During this teleconference, the employee confirmed that he would attend and cooperate with any EIME to be set in the future.  WCO Walsh found that, based on the employee’s description of the event and
Dr. Schilperoot’s narrative of the event, Dr. Schilperoort’s examination “was thwarted by employee’s hostility and uncooperative behaviors,” noted the doctor had refused to complete the EIME, described a “parity” in the rights of employers and employees under 8 AAC 45.082(4)(B) and AS 23.30.095(e), and ruled that the employer “is granted a substitution of an EIME physician to examine the employee.”  This ruling was not based on the audio tape or transcript of the Schilperoort attempted examination, which the employee had kept secret from the board designee and the employer’s counsel, and had not revealed at the time of WCO Walsh’s decision.

On the issue of the employee’s claim for reimbursement of $227.12 in medically-related travel expenses, the parties reached no resolution and the WCO ruled that she lacked authority to decide the question, and directed the employee to file an ARH to bring the issued before the board for hearing.
    

The transcripts of the February 13 and 15, 2007 pre-hearing conferences were filed more than 20 days prior to the board’s June 4, 2008 hearing, and no party objected to the board’s admission into evidence and consideration of the audiotapes or transcripts of these pre-hearing conferences.
  At one point late in the pre-hearing conference on February 13, 2007, the employee took leave to go to the restroom, apparently leaving the tape recorder running in the room with WCO Walsh and
Ms. Niemann alone.  The following was recorded:

MR. WOODIN: Can I step out to the bathroom, is that okay, or do you need to get going?  I’ll try to hold it.

MS WALSH: No, go ahead, go ahead.

MR. WOODIN: Is there one in here or do you have to go down the hall?

MS. NIEMANN: You have to go down the hall.

MS. WALSH:  You have to go right down the hall.  You just go (indiscernible).

MR. WOODIN: Okay.

MS. NIEMANN: (Indiscernible).

MS. WALSH: Gosh, Christie, you toasted it, you toasted it.

MS. NIEMANN: Oh, well.

MS. WALSH: Do you have the copy?

MS. NIEMANN: Yeah, I do, I found it.  It was buried at the bottom and all I was on top was the old releases and thought they hadn’t done it.  Oh, well.  Live and learn.

MS. WALSH: (Indiscernible).

MS. NIEMANN: Well, I just felt bad.

MS. WALSH: (Indiscernible) finish covering them all.

MS. NIEMANN: No, (indiscernible) I just don’t know if we’ll get to address the IME or not.

MS. WALSH: Let me see what (indiscernible).

MS. NIEMANN: I’ve got a 3:00.

MS. WALSH: Do you, 3?

MS. NIEMANN: Yeah, I’ve got a 3:00.

MS. WALSH: Finish your claims and I just have to do the (indiscernible).

MS. NIEMANN: I’m nearly done (indiscernible).  It’s going to be a long one to get going through.

MS WALSH: What do you –

MS. NIEMANN: I just need two more to forward on.  The other issues we’ll have to – I think we’re going to get mired in discovery.

MS. WALSH: I made a copy (indiscernible).

MR. WOODIN: Okay.

MS. WALSH: I was just commenting – she has a 3:00 prehearing –

MR. WOODIN: 3:00?

MS. NIEMANN: Yeah, that’s correct. * * *

The quoted interaction took approximately 90 seconds, on the tape.

On April 18, 2007, the employer filed an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing (ARH) on its
October 30, 2006 petition, and requested a pre-hearing conference.
  A pre-hearing conference was noticed for May 24, 2007.
  The employee filed an affidavit in opposition to a hearing on the merits of his case.
  The employee advised he was unable to attend the May 24, 2007 pre-hearing conference either in person or telephonically,
 and the WCO responded by writing to say the employee was responsible for obtaining a mutually agreed-upon alternative pre-hearing conference date, and that since the employee had not done so, the pre-hearing conference would not be rescheduled.

The employee attended the May 24, 2007 pre-hearing conference, with Barbara Williams attending “for the purpose of monitoring the conference” at the employee’s request, but not as a representative for Mr. Woodin.  Mr. Woodin advised that his occupation at that time prevented him from preparing for or attending a hearing before the board earlier than 2007, evidently requesting a hearing before the board some time in 2008.  WCO Walsh expressed a plan to set a follow-up pre-hearing conference within 30 days, and another in November 2007, at which a hearing date in 2008 would be set.  The employee was reminded of the two-year time limitations under AS 23.30.110(c).
  On May 29, 2007, the employee submitted an affidavit that stated, 

“[d]ue to the nature of my work, I will be unable to prepare for, nor attend, any AWCB hearings prior to the latter part of January, 2008.  In order to support my family, I am a pilot and the demand for my services runs from May through December.  I am basically on call and/or actually flying during this window.”

No objection to the summary of the May 24, 2007 pre-hearing conference is on file with the board.

The employer submitted formal discovery requests to the employee on September 12, 2007,
 to which the employee’s spouse responded stating the employee was unable to respond to the requests “until the first of next year (January 2008) as per previous notice.”
  Another pre-hearing conference was noticed for June 29, 2007, then cancelled and re-noticed for November 7, 2007.

The November 7, 2007 pre-hearing conference was held in the employee’s absence, the chair finding that the pre-hearing had been properly noticed, and Mr. Woodin had failed to appear.  The WCO reviewed the employer’s then-pending October 30, 2006 petition and set it for a hearing on March 19, 2008, that being the only petition pending by either party for which an ARH had been filed.  WCO Walsh also discussed the outstanding discovery requests made to the employee, reciting that “due to the letter [from the employee’s spouse stating the employee’s unavailability to respond to discovery],  Ms. Niemann extended the deadline for response” to the formal discovery until January 15, 2008.
  No objection to this November 7, 2007 pre-hearing conference summary was filed.  

Apparently, the employee did not respond to the discovery by January 15, 2008, because the employer then filed a petition to compel responses dated January 23, 2008.
  The matter was set for another pre-hearing conference on March 10, 2008, but the employee after two correspondences was able to have the pre-hearing re-set due to his being subpoenaed to testify at a superior court proceeding in Kenai during the week of March 10.
  The March 19, 2008 hearing on the employer’s October 30, 2006 petition to compel the employee to attend an EIME was formally noticed on February 19, 2008.
  The employer filed an ARH on its January 23, 2008 petition to compel discovery responses (which had been re-served on February 5, 2008).
  The employee responded that he had provided responses to the employer’s formal discovery.

The employee then filed his Petition to continue the March 19, 2008 hearing, in which he argued that hearing on the pending October 30, 2006 employer’s petition to compel an EIME would be premature (“getting the cart way out ahead of the horse”) without full hearing on the employee’s “testimony and evidence.”  The employee attached to this petition six exhibits; one of the exhibits was another petition, seeking the relief that the board terminate WCO Walsh from her position “for her part in the unethical behavior and corruption, undermining my workers’ compensation claim.”
  Other exhibits included:

· excerpts from the medical board licensing files in Oregon and Alaska

· a copy of the employee’s complaint to the Alaska State Medical Board about
Dr. Schilperoort, arising out of the attempted May 9, 2006 medical examination;

· a copy of a purported transcript of audio tape of the attempted May 9, 2006 medical examination;

· a copy of purported transcripts of audio tapes of the February 12, 2007 and February 15, 2007 pre-hearing conferences.
  

The employee has filed ARHs on all of his pending claims and petitions on March 7, 2008, and on April 24, 2008.
  The employer has filed an opposition to full hearing on all of the employee’s claims, citing the need to conduct further discovery.

D.
Summary of argument at the June 4, 2008 hearing:

The employee at the June 4, 2008 oral argument focused on the allegations of bias or partiality of Ms. Walsh, citing eleven passages in the transcripts of the audio tapes of the February 13, and 15, 2007 pre-hearing conferences as corroborating evidence of an improper relationship between the employer’s representative Ms. Niemann and WCO Walsh.  The employee also asserted at hearing – which was admitted by the employer’s and insurer’s representative Mr. Griffin at hearing – that former WCO Walsh had by resigned her position at the Alaska Department of Labor & Workforce Development,
 and was at the time of the hearing employed part-time by the law firm of Griffin & Smith.  The employee cited this as further circumstantial evidence of an improper relationship, sufficient to void the February 13, 2007 and February 15, 2007 rulings by WCO Walsh in her pre-hearing conference orders.  On the merits of the appeal of the substance of her rulings and the employer’s October 30, 2007 petition to compel the employee to attend another EIME, the employee argued that he in fact attended the scheduled EIME with
Dr. Schilperoort, had not “failed to attend,” that the record as augmented with the transcript of his conversations with Dr. Schilperoort on May 9, 2006, more accurately reflected his description of the interview with Dr. Schilperoort rather than Dr. Schilperoort’s self-serving letter dated May 9, 2006.  The employee argued that he had gone to the EIME intending to cooperate, and that Dr. Schilperoort initiated the negative exchange, calling the employee a “baiter” and introducing a stranger to the EIME physical exam without the employee’s permission or advance warning.  On the order compelling the employee to sign a general release, the employee argued that he previously, in October 2000 had signed a general release that was unlimited in durational effect, which he had not revoked, and therefore the direction that he sign another general release was unnecessary.  The employee further argued that he feared identity theft as a result of signing a general medical release that would permit the employer to obtain medical records from a medical provider without the employee’s knowledge and acquiescence.

The employer argued that its right to an EIME under AS 23.30.095 had been frustrated by the employee’s obstruction of the examination by Dr. Schilperoort.  The employer argued it should be permitted to designate another physician, without the employee’s consent, to conduct an EIME, arguing that a physician’s refusal to complete an EIME, like a treating physician’s refusal to continue treatment, ought to authorize another free choice of EIME physician.  The employer argued that it was entitled to a general medical release, without naming a specific medical provider, so that it could conduct its investigation and defense of the employee’s claims independently and without interference by the employee.  The employer argued that the real issue on the general medical release is whether the employee may be permitted to direct the employer’s investigation by the employer, citing the Granus v. Fell
 decision as authority in the negative for this proposition.  On the claims of bias by WCO Walsh, the employer’s counsel confirmed that Ms. Walsh was employed part-time (at the time of the hearing) at Griffin & Smith, but argued this fact alone is not probative of bias.  The employer’s counsel did not object to admission of the transcripts of the secretly-taped interaction with Dr. Schilperoort and the February 2007 pre-hearing conferences, submitting that the transcripts demonstrate Ms. Walsh’s and Ms. Niemann’s professionalism toward an obstreperous, combative claimant.  The employer urged the board to read the transcripts of the secretly-made audio tapes. 


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I.  Standard of Review

Under AS 23.30.108(c), we must uphold a board designee’s discovery decision absent “an abuse of discretion.”  The Alaska Supreme Court has stated that abuse of discretion consists of “issuing a decision which is arbitrary, capricious, manifestly unreasonable, or which stems from an improper motive.”
  Additionally, an agency’s failure to properly apply the controlling law may also be considered an abuse of discretion.
  

In the Administrative Procedure Act, at AS 44.62.570, the legislature has provided another definition to be used by the courts in considering appeals of administrative agency decisions:

Abuse of discretion is established if the agency has not proceeded in the manner required by law, the order or decision is not supported by the findings, or the findings are not supported by the evidence...If it is claimed that the findings are not supported by the evidence, abuse of discretion is established if the court determines that the findings are not supported by (1) the weight of the evidence; or (2) the substantial evidence in light of the whole record.

On appeal to the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission, AS 23.30.128(b) provides that our decision reviewing a board designee’s determination is subject to reversal under the abuse of discretion standard, and appeals of Commission decisions to the Alaska Supreme Court are reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard of AS 44.62.570, incorporating the substantial evidence test, as cited above. Concern with meeting that standard on appeal leads us to apply a substantial evidence standard in our review of a board designee’s order.  Applying a substantial evidence standard, a "[reviewer] may not reweigh the evidence or draw its own inferences from the evidence.  If, in light of the record as a whole, there is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion, then the order . . . must be upheld."

Actual bias, or conduct creating the appearance of partiality by the board designee, is a form of abuse of discretion.
  The board designee’s actions are presumed to be honest and impartial, until a petitioner makes a showing of actual bias or prejudgment.
  In rare cases, as here, evidence of bias may be adduced from outside the formally recorded proceedings.  We believe it is our duty to independently review such extra-record evidence, if properly admitted, that is argued to support a claim of bias.
  We weigh such extra-record evidence of actual bias or partiality, along with the balance of the record before the board designee, to determine if, by a preponderance of the evidence, actual bias or partiality by the board’s designee caused a result that was patently unreasonable.
  “In cases ‘where only the appearance of partiality is involved,’ we will require a ‘greater showing’ for reversal.”
  To establish the appearance of partiality, a party “must identify objective facts from which a fair-minded person could conclude that an appearance of partiality” exists.

II.  The WCO’s conduct created the appearance of partiality
AS 23.30.001(4) provides it is the intent of the legislature that:

Hearings in workers’ compensation cases shall be impartial and fair to all parties and that all parties shall be afforded due process and an opportunity to be heard and for their arguments and evidence to be fairly considered.

AS 44.62.450(c) provides, in part:


A hearing officer or agency member shall voluntarily seek disqualification and withdraw from a case in which the hearing officer or agency member cannot afford a fair and impartial hearing or consideration.  A party may request the disqualification of a hearing officer or agency member by filing an affidavit, before the taking of evidence at a hearing, stating with particularity the grounds upon which it is claimed that a fair and impartial hearing cannot be accorded.  If the request concerns an agency member the issue shall be determined by the other members of the agency.  If the request concerns the hearing officer, the issue shall be determined by the agency when the agency hears the case with the hearing officer, and by the hearing officer when the officer hears the case alone.  An agency member may not withdraw voluntarily or be disqualified if the disqualification would prevent the existence of a quorum qualified to act in the particular case.

Under AS 23.30.108(c), a Workers’ Compensation Officer serving as a board designee initially decides discovery disputes at the prehearing conference.  We have previously concluded that, in making pre-hearing decisions, board designees are required to uphold the same standards of impartiality and fairness as the board must exhibit in the formal hearing proceedings; that is, not only to be impartial and fair in fact, but to maintain the appearance of impartiality and fairness.
 
The Alaska Supreme Court has reviewed ex parte communications by the board.
   The board has considered ex parte communications between a Workers’ Compensation Officer and a party,
 ex parte communications between a Reemployment Benefits Administrator (“RBA”) and employees
 and ex parte research conducted by the RBA.
  The standard of review in these cases was whether the board, WCO or RBA abused discretion.  

In Koons, one of the panelists and the presiding hearing officer had an ex parte conversation with two witnesses on matters that ultimately reviewing courts found were connected to the employee’s claim; this ex parte conversation was found to breach the appearance of impartiality standard, and the board’s decision was vacated and remanded for a new hearing before a new panel.
  In Deatherage, the board found no evidence of partiality, prejudice or improper motive, but did find the procedure applied in the case “unconventional,” while not finding any improper ex parte communications between the employee and WCO.
  In Meza v. Alyeska Seafoods, Inc.,
 the Board determined that ex parte communications did not provide a basis for reversing a decision of the RBA if the communications in question did not influence the RBA in any manner.

Applying these rules, the board panel has reviewed the record of the February 13 and 15, 2007 pre-hearing conferences,
 and finds that they do not support the employee’s claim of actual bias or prejudice.  If anything, the tone and demeanor of WCO Walsh, both in her spoken and written words, was measured, attentive, and even-handed.  We find the employee’s attribution of bias by WCO Walsh, based on the employer’s representative Ms. Niemann’s conduct during the pre-hearing, to be unsupported by the record before us.  We find nothing in the words or tone of
Ms. Niemann that convinces us that Ms. Walsh was biased in her decision-making on this case.  We find Ms. Niemann’s conduct fully within the realm of zealous advocacy on behalf of her clients, but also we find the tone of her voice is respectful and patient.  We find the employee’s self-advocacy, during the audio-taped pre-hearing conferences, was also respectful and patient, while also being persistent in his cause to advocate fully for his view of his rights.

The board does not find that the 90-second passage of the exchange of words between
Ms. Walsh and Ms. Niemann, while the employee excused himself to go to the restroom, supports the employee’s claim of actual bias or prejudice, nor was it an improper ex parte communication.
  The board finds that the employee’s level of advocacy is far more sophisticated and persistent than most unrepresented litigants, and even many lawyers.  If anything, the exchange between WCO Walsh and Ms. Niemann reveals two professionals expressing release after a tension-filled, intellectually-challenging meeting, with Ms. Niemann informing Ms. Walsh of an upcoming 3:00 p.m. appointment.  The fact of discussion of the upcoming appointment was disclosed to the employee.

It is a fact of litigation in any arena that decision-makers over time develop relationships with those who appear before them.  That they exchange words with each other outside the presence of one or more of the parties does not make the interchange an impermissible ex parte contact.  As was stated in a federal court decision quoted in Koons:

[O]ne of the fundamental premises inherent in the concept of adversary hearing . . . is that neither adversary be permitted to engage in an ex parte communication concerning the merits of the case with those responsible for the decision.

We do not find unequivocal evidence that the WCO here impermissibly communicated on the merits of the employee’s case in the 90-second interlude.  On the other hand, however, the entire record (including the tone and non-verbal audibles recorded by audio-tape) are sufficient to create the appearance of partiality, i.e., “objective facts from which a fair-minded person could conclude that an appearance of partiality” exists.  Ms. Walsh’s comment on Ms. Nieman’s advocacy, “Gosh, Christie, you toasted it, you toasted it,” while susceptible to differing interpretations as to meaning, is sufficiently close to an ex parte communication on the merits of the discovery disputes (i.e., commenting on an advocate’s performance during a hearing) that we find the WCO failed to maintain the appearance of impartiality.

However, we find this breach of the appearance of partiality to be minor, and did not rise to the “greater than patently unreasonable” result described by the Alaska Supreme Court as a basis for reversal of a decision below.
 We note that the remedy for apparent partiality that is reversible error is to vacate and remand for re-hearing before another decision-maker.
  Because 
Ms. Walsh has resigned her position with the Department, another WCO will preside over subsequent proceedings in any event.  Because we find the record sufficiently developed and unaffected by Ms. Walsh’s momentary lapse of the appearance of impartiality, and to guide the new WCO on remand, we next turn to the merits of the employee’s appeal of the discovery rulings, and the employer’s petition.

III.
The order compelling the employee to sign a general medical release was proper

AS 23.30.107 provides, in part:  

Upon request, the employee shall provide written authority to the employer . . . to obtain medical and rehabilitation information relative to the employee's injury. . . .  

AS 23.30.108(c) provides, in part:

At a prehearing on discovery matters conducted by the board’s designee, the board’s designee shall direct parties to sign releases or produce documents, or both, if the parties present releases or documents that are likely to lead to admissible evidence relative to an employee’s injury. . . .

AS 23.30.108(c) provides procedure and authority for the board and its designees to control discovery and resolve discovery disputes.  Under AS 23.30.108(c) discovery disputes are initially decided at the level of a prehearing conference by a board designee. 
  Although the first sentence of that subsection specifically refers to "releases" and "written documents,” the subsection repeatedly uses the broader term "discovery dispute" as the subject matter of the prehearing conference.  We interpret AS 23.30.108 to apply to the general subject of discovery.
  We also interpret AS 23.30.108 to apply to disputes concerning any examination, medical reports or other records held by the parties.

The statute at AS 23.30.107(a) is mandatory, an employee must release all evidence “relative” to the injury.  Regarding medical evaluation and discovery process generally, we have long recognized that the Alaska Supreme Court encourages "liberal and wide‑ranging discovery under the Rules of Civil Procedure."
  If it is shown that informal means of developing evidence have failed, "we will consider the relevance of the requested information and the method of discovery to be authorized."
  Under AS 23.30.108(c), we have the specific authority to order compliance with discovery, and to order sanctions for the refusal to comply with discovery orders by the Board or Board Designee.  In extreme cases, we have long determined we have the authority to dismiss claims if an employee willfully obstructs discovery.

On the other hand, we refuse to order discovery that will not assist us in ascertaining the rights of the parties, or in the resolution of the claim.
  In attempting to balance the goals of liberal discovery and reasonable protection of the privacy of injured workers, we have generally limited discovery to two years before the earliest evidence of a condition.

Here, the dispute is over whether the employee can be compelled to sign a “general medical release,” actually a hybrid general medical release that names a class of authorized entities (medical providers), and also lists specific medical providers authorized to release information to the employer, insurer, and their counsel.  The two reasons given by the employee in support of his appeal of the board designee’s rejection of his request for a protective order is that (1) he signed a general medical release in 2000 (Appendix 1) which he has never revoked, and that release should be sufficient for the employer’s investigatory purposes; (2) he fears invasion of his personal right of privacy, including identity theft, if he is unable to monitor the entities that receive a general medical release during the employer’s investigation.

The employee’s first argument, that the 2000 release remains in effect and therefore should be sufficient for the employer’s use, is incorrect under the law after adoption of the Health Insurance Portability Act Amendments of 1996.

The employee executed the general medical release in 2000.  See Appendix 1.  The privacy rule of HIPAA became effective on April 14, 2003.
  In an earlier case where the employee resisted providing releases (there, psychiatric records) under an argument that release was prevented by the HIPAA, the board’s Northern Panel noted:

the implementing [federal] Code of Federal Regulations (“CFR”) provisions at 45 CFR 164.512(l) permits health care providers to disclose protected health information (PHI) to workers’ compensation insurers, State administrators, employers, and other persons or entities involved in workers’ compensation systems.  45 CFR 164.512(a) limits the amount of protected health information a health care provider is allowed to disclose to the minimum necessary to accomplish the workers’ compensation purpose and to the full extent authorized by State or other law.    . . .AS 23.30.107 authorizes the employer to obtain copies of records “relative” to the injury.

The HIPAA regulations specifically authorizes the type of hybrid general release that the board designee ordered the employee to sign here:

 A valid authorization under this section [governing HIPAA-compliant authorizations to release PHI] must contain at least the following elements: . . .(ii) The name or other specific identification of the person(s), or class of persons, authorized to make the requested use or disclosure.

That same regulation requires a “valid authorization” to contain:

An expiration date or an expiration event that relates to the individual or the  purpose of the use or disclosure. The statement ‘‘end of the research study,’’ “none,” or similar language is sufficient if the authorization is for a use or disclosure of protected health information for research, including for the creation  and maintenance of a research database or research repository.

Because the general medical release signed by the employee in 2000 (before the HIPAA Privacy Rule went into effect) demonstrably has no expiration date, and is not for health information research purposes, the board concludes that the 2000 release is no longer “HIPAA-compliant,” and the employee’s insistence that the employer can use that general release for its investigation relating to the claims filed in 2006 and afterward, is incorrect as a matter of law.

The HIPAA regulation specifically authorizes the type of hybrid general medical authorization for release of PHI here, where certain medical providers are specified, but the authorization is also addressed generally to a class  (i.e., medical providers).  The employee has cited to no Alaska statute, regulation, or court decision that otherwise prohibits what HIPAA permits.  We conclude that the WCO’s order compelling the employee to sign the attached hybrid general medical release (Appendix 2) was not contrary to law, and otherwise was not an abuse of discretion, and we therefore affirm her decision denying the employee a protective order, and ordering the employee to sign the hybrid general medical release attached as Appendix 2.

IV.  The employer is entitled to another EIME due to Dr. Schilperoort’s withdrawal

caused by the employee’s obstructive, uncooperative behavior at the EIME, 

and his subsequent death

AS 23.30.095(e) provides, in pertinent part:

The employee shall, after an injury, at reasonable times during the continuance of the disability, if requested by the employer or when ordered by the board, submit to an examination by a physician or surgeon of the employer's choice authorized to practice medicine under the laws of the jurisdiction in which the examination occurs, furnished and paid for by the employer. The employer may not make more than one change in the employer's choice of a physician or surgeon without the written consent of the employee. Referral to a specialist by the employer's physician is not considered a change in physicians. An examination requested by the employer not less than 14 days after injury, and every 60 days thereafter, shall be presumed to be reasonable, and the employee shall submit to the examination without further request or order by the board. . . .  If an employee refuses to submit to an examination provided for in this section, the employee's rights to compensation shall be suspended until the obstruction or refusal ceases, and the employee's compensation during the period of suspension may, in the discretion of the board or the court determining an action brought for the recovery of damages under this chapter, be forfeited. . . .

8 AAC 45.090(g) provides, in relevant part:

If an employee does not attend an examination scheduled in accordance with AS 23.095(e), . . .

(1) the employer will pay the physician’s fee, if any, for the missed examination; and

(2) upon petition by a party and after a hearing, the board will determine whether good cause existed for the employee not attending the examination; . . . .

8 AAC 45.082(c)(4) provides, in relevant part:

Regardless of an employee’s date of injury, the following is not a change of attending physician:

* * *

(B) the attending physician dies,. . . . or refuses to provide services to the employee. . . .

Regarding medical evaluation and discovery process generally, we have long recognized that the Alaska Supreme Court encourages "liberal and wide‑ranging discovery under the Rules of Civil Procedure."
  Employers have an explicit statutory right to medical examinations of injured workers by physicians of their choosing, every 60 days.  The limit of the employer’s right is the "reasonable" standard in the language of AS 23.30.095(e).  This has been interpreted by board panels to refer to reasonable times, frequency, location, qualifications, and so on.
  The reasonableness standard also applies to the method, means, and manner of evaluation, and to the degree of invasiveness.
  AS 23.30.095(e) also requires the employer’s evaluator to use existing diagnostic data, to the degree medically possible.  Under the statute neither injured workers nor the board have the right to refuse an EME unless it is unreasonable in some specific respect.
  

It is a logical corollary of AS 23.30.095(e) requiring an employee to attend an EIME, that the employee must reasonably cooperate in the examination.  We are aware of no interpretation of the mandate on use of “existing diagnostic data” that prevents an examining physician from performing a verbal medical history.  The board finds that it is standard and ordinary practice for a physician, prior to performing a physical examination of a patient, to perform a verbal medical history.  In a case with musculoskeletal or neurologic symptoms, we find the verbal medical history and physical examination attempted by Dr. Schilperoort was reasonable and proper.

In this case, the medical records before Dr. Schilperoort were demonstrably incomplete, as they lacked any records between June 2001 and October 2005, and those records from October 2005 forward are a scant three pages.
  Dr. Schilperoort did not have access to Dr. Johnston’s or Dr. Fraser’s notes from 2006, nor the treatment notes of the 2006 injections.  Although the record is not entirely complete on the employee’s interaction with Dr. Schilperoort,
 on the record before us we find that the employee’s responses to Dr. Schilperoort’s questions were clearly obstructive and designed to provide no narrative information to Dr. Schilperoort.  Proceedings before the board are a search for truth, not an exercise in “hiding the ball,” and an employer properly suspends benefits under AS 23.30.095(c) due to obstructive conduct of an employee that prevents a reasonable EIME from proceeding.
  We find substantial evidence supports WCO Walsh’s conclusion that the employee was uncooperative in the examination by Dr. Schilperoort.

Dr. Schilperoort did try to elicit the employee’s narrative of his current condition, which the employee stated was “in the records.”  This was demonstrably incorrect.
  There was neither a current nor complete set of records in the files available to Dr. Schilperoort.  Thus we find the doctor’s attempt to elicit a description of the employee’s then-current pain symptoms was reasonable – in fact central to the EIME – and the employee’s refusal to meaningfully respond was both unreasonable and obstructive.

Because the doctor refused to complete the examination, and there is substantial evidence supporting the WCO’s finding that this refusal was caused by the employee’s unreasonable resistance to the examination, we conclude that it was legally correct, and not an abuse of discretion, for WCO Walsh to declare that the employer is free to designate another medical examiner to complete an examination under AS 23.30.095(e) without the employee’s prior written consent.

In light of Dr. Schilperoort’s death, also by analogy to 8 AAC 45.082(c)(4)(B), we find that Dr. Schilperoort is no longer available to conduct an EIME in the future, and we conclude that the employer in any event is entitled to choose another EIME physician without the employee’s written consent, and Ms. Walsh’s pre-hearing order is affirmed on that independent basis.

In remanding this to the board’s designee, we direct the WCO to hold a pre-hearing conference at which the conditions of the employee’s attendance at an EIME may be set.  We note that the board has in the past prohibited audio-taping, video-taping or other means of recording EIMEs,
 and has prohibited attendance at an EIME by a lawyer or legal representative.
  We urge the parties and the EIME physician to seek agreement on a neutral third party chaperone for the EIME examination.  We remand this matter for additional pre-hearing proceedings to move this matter toward resolution on Items (1) – (3), (7) – (11), and (14) listed on pages 12 and 13 of this decision.

ORDER

1.  The discovery orders contained in the February 13 and 15, 2007 pre-hearing conference summaries are affirmed, and the employee’s two petitions dated February 26, 2007, appealing those orders, are denied and dismissed;

2.  The employer’s October 30, 2006 petition to compel the employee to attend an EIME is granted; the employee shall attend and cooperate with any future EIME; should the employee fail to attend or cooperate in any regularly-noticed EIME, the employer shall file a petition for dismissal with prejudice for failure to cooperate in discovery, or for such other appropriate relief, together with evidence of the failure to attend or cooperate;

3.  We remand this matter to the WCO for proceedings consistent with this decision, reserving jurisdiction to resolve any continuing disputes remaining between the parties.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 23 day of July, 2008.
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� The decision in this case has been delayed by the large volume of the procedural and medical records in this case, comprising approximately 5 TO 6,000 pages, with which the panel has had to expend particular effort to organize and compare the contents of the materials supplied to the EIME physician in this case.  See note 2 infra.  


� 10/9/00 Report of Occupational Injury of Illness (“ROI”)(filed 11/6/00).  The employee stated in a medical service intake form:  “climbing ladder, jammed head into overhead piping.”  10/10/00 B. Woodin, Worker Compensation Information (apparently, a medical intake form), filed attached to 10/24/06 C. Niemann, Griffin & Smith, Letter to W.H. Woodin, attached to 2/14/07 C. Niemann, Griffin & Smith, Letter to M.E.Walsh, AWCB (filed 2/15/07).  By inspection, the documents contained in this document production to the employee, copied to the board, are purported to be the documents submitted to Steven J. Schilperoort, MD prior to the attempted May 9, 2006 employer-sponsored medical examination.  Because the board finds these documents central to the pending discovery disputes, the board panel has duplicated the entire February 15, 2007 filing, re-organized the records in apparent chronological order, and number-stamped them for precise reference.  A copy of this filing, as re-organized and paginated by the board panel, is provided to the parties with this order, and shall be referred to hereinafter as the “Schilperoort EIME Records.”  Mr. Woodin’s description of the injury cited is found at page 121 of the Schilperoort EME Records.  Two pages of documents that could not be identifiably dated were placed at the end of this compilation.  Schilperoort EIME Records, pages 358-59.


� E.g., 2/13/07 Transcript of Pre-Hearing Recorded by William Woodin, at page 66, lines 13-14 (statement by Mr. Woodin: “So Agrium bought the place in October of 2000.  I was injured in October of 2000.”).


� 10/6/00 G. Fraser, MD, Chart Note [Schilperoort EIME Records page 117].


� 10/26/00 J.B. Eaves, MD, MRI of the lumbar spine without contrast, filed in id., page 131.


� In this decision, the term “general medical release” means a release that is not specific as to provider or body part, or either.  Thus a “general medical release” may be a release that authorizes medical records from a specific, identified provider to be provided without restriction as to body part, or it may be a release that authorizes medical records for a specific, identified body part, but does not identify a specific provider to whom the authorization applies.  Or, a “general medical release” may be broadly defined as a release that is not specific as to either body part or provider. 


� 10/16/00 Medical Release, filed in: 11/8/06 Response to Informal Request for Production of the Insurer and or Adjuster (filed 11/13/08).  This document appears in an unpaginated filing consisting of approximately 1,500 pages of documents.  For aide of the parties and any reviewing body, a copy of this release is attached marked as Appendix 1 to this decision.


� E.g., J. Pride, Fireman’s Fund Ins. Co., Compensation Report (filed 5/7/01).


� 11/1/00 G. Fraser, MD, Chart note [Schilperoort EIME Records at page 135].


� 11/7/00 G. Fraser, MD, Job Analysis and Physician Report of Work Capacity [Schilperoort EIME Records at pages 143-44].  Dr. Fraser’s checks of the boxes are legible, but the test of the completed report (a third-generation fax copy) is somewhat difficult to read.  A clearer, blank copy of the form completed by Dr. Fraser is found at Schilperoort EIME Records 139-40.


� Schilperoort EIME Records at page 135.


� 11/21/00 C. G. Perkins, MD, Report of EMG studies, Peninsula Neurology Clinic [Schilperoort EIME Records 165-70].


� This test is used for evaluation of cervical spine radiculopathy; pain intestified with ipsilateral bending suggests cervical radiculopathy.  E.g., Univ. of Florida, College of Medicine, Center for Musculoskeletal Pain Research, Special Tests for Rheumatology, published at:  � HYPERLINK "http://www.med.ufl.edu/rheum/rheumTests.htm" �http://www.med.ufl.edu/rheum/rheumTests.htm� (printed and filed July 15, 2008).


� 12/10/00 D.C. Peterson, MD, Physician’s Report and Light Duty Work restriction (filed 1/2/01).  Duplicates of this physician’s report and work restriction are found at Schilperoort EIME Records, pages 176 and 178-79.


� 1/3/01 M.O. McVee, MD, MRI of the cervical spine without contrast, Central Peninsula General Hospital [Schilperoort EIME Records 185].


� Schilperoort EIME Records at page 187.


� E.g., 1/23/01 D.R. Walaszek, PA-C, Agrium Medical Dept. to Dr. Peterson (unsigned), filed in Schilperoort EIME Records at pages 197-98.  The date of this document, unsigned in the Schilperoort EIME Records appears on the second page of the letter.  A second version of this letter, signed, is dated January 18, 2001.  1/18/01 Letter, D.R. Walaszek, PA to Dr. Peterson, filed attached to11/8/06 [Employer’s] Response to Informal Request for Production to the Insurer and or Adjuster (filed 11/13/06).  See also 1/30/01 S. Roybal, RN, Advocacy Status Report #1 [Schilperoort EIME Records 204-05](discussing dispute about job description for Wharf Operator position and planned job analysis).  The job analysis for the Wharf Operator position appears to be found at Schilperoort EIME Records pages 206-25; the job analysis for the Utility Plant Operator position, apparently thought to be equal to the employee’s position at time of injury, is found at Schilperoort EIME Records pages 227-244.  The updated job analyses were provided to Dr. Peterson on February 8, 2001.  2/8/01 S. Roybal, RN, Letter to D. Peterson, MD [Schilperoort EIME Records page 251]


�2/2/01 L Stinson, MD, Consultation Report on Examination of 1/29/02, Alaska Reg. Hospital �[Schilperoort EIME Records pages 247-50].


� 2/13/01 L. Stinson, MD, Operative Note [Schilperoort EIME Records 252-55].


� 2/13/01 L. B. Lewis, MD, Report of CT Lumbar Spine [Schilperoort EIME Records 256].


� See 2/22/01 L. Stinson, MD, Operative Note, Plan at Para. 2 [Schilperoort EIME Records 283]; 2/22/01 S. Roybal, RN, E-mail to J. Pride, Re: William Woodin [Schilperoort EIME Records 264]; J. Pride, E-mail to D. Malec, Re: William Woodin 862 00-914224 [Schilperoort EIME Records 265] (both discussing 2-level IDETT procedure).


� 2/22/01 L. Stinson, MD, Operative Note [Schilperoort EIME Records 282-83].


� 3/13/01 R. P. Trombley, PhD, Report of Psychological Evaluation, Advanced Pain Center of Alaska [Schilperoort EIME Records 273-75].


� 3/14/01 S. Roybal, RN, Advocacy Status Report #2, at page 2 [Schilperoort EIME Records 277].


� 2/13/01 D.C. Peterson, MD, “To Whom it May Concern” [Schilperoort EIME Records 257].


� 2/1/01 L. Willenbrink, Job Analysis: Utility Plant Operator, at page 9 [Schilperoort EIME Records 235]; 1/31/01 L. Willenbrink, Job Analysis: Wharf Operator, at page 11 [Schilperoort EIME Records 216].


� 1/9/01 W. Woodin, Request for Eligibility Evaluation for Re-employement Benefits [Schilperoort EIME Records 188].


� See 4/6/01 F. Stoll, AWCB, to W. Woodin, Notice of Assignment for Eligibility Evaluation (filed 4/6/01).  A partial copy of this letter, without the second page showing Ms. Stoll’s signature, is found at Schilperoort EIME Records page 296.


� 3/15/01 J. Pride, Fireman’s Fund Ins. Co., Letter to J. L. Seres, MD [Schilperoort EIME Records 278-80].


� 4/5/01 J.L. Seres, MD, Report of Evaluation, at pages  6, 8, 13, 15 [Schilperoort EIME Records 286, 288, 293, 295].


� 4/17/01 S. Roybal, RN, Advocacy Status Report #3 [Schilperoort EIME Records 299].


� 4/18/01 J. Price, Fireman’s Fund Ins. Co., Letter to J. Seres, MD [Schilperoort EIME Records 300].


� 4/19/01 J.L. Seres, MD, Letter to J. Pride, Fireman’s Fund Ins. Co. [Schilperoort EIME Records 301-303].


� 4/25/01 F. Sakata, OTR, RN, AROS Physical Capacities Evlaution, at page 7 [Schilperoort EIME Records 313].


� 5/2/01 G. Aroaz-Fraser, MD, Letter to Whom it May Concern and Return to Work Release [Schilperoort EIME Records 329-30].


�5/25/01 D. Salzman, RBA, AWCB, to W. Woodin [Schilperoort EIME Records 335]; see also 5/8/01 Letter, L.C. Cortis, CDMS, Jill R. Friedman & Assoc. to D. Saltzman, RBA [Schilperoort EIME Records 334].


� 3/15/02 Letter, J. Cohen, WCO, AWCB, to Agrium, Inc. (with copy to W. Woodin).


� See supra Note 1.  Because the Schilperoort EME Records contain all of the same medical records as in the employer’s November 2007 informal production, we shall cite only to the Schilperoort EME Records hereinafter.


� 2/13/08 Medical Summary (filed 2/19/08).


� 10/27/05 J.W. McGee, MD, Report of MRI fo the Lumbar Spine without Contrast (filed in 2/13/08 Medical Summary, filed 2/19/08); [see also Schilperoort EIME Records at page 339].


�10/27/05  R. L. Bridges, MD, MRI of the Lumbar Spine without Contrast: Comparison with Previous MRI Examination (filed in 2/13/08 Medical Summary, filed 2/19/08); [see also Schilperoort EIME Records at page 340].


� 1/6/06 R. H. Boon, Jr., MD, Chart Note, VA Administration (filed in 2/14/08 Medical Summary, filed 2/19/08); [see also Schilperoort EIME Records 342].


� 3/30/06 G. Fraser, MD, Chart Note (filed in 2/13/08 Medical Summary, filed 2/19/08.  A duplicate of this record is not contained in the Schilperoort EIME Records.  Unless otherwise noted, medical records in the succeeding footnotes, found in the 2/14/08 Medical Summary, are not found in the Schilperoort EIME Records.


� 5/4/06 S. Johnston, MD, Letter to G. Fraser, MD (filed 2/13/08 Medical Summary, filed 2/19/08.


� 5/12/06 G. Fraser, MD, Chart note (filed in 2/13/08 Medical Summary, filed 2/19/08).


� 5/17/06 S. Johnston, MD, Operative Report, Alaska Spine Institute (filed in 2/13/08 Medical Summary, filed 2/19/08).


� 8/22/06 and 9/27/06 S. Johnston, MD, Chart notes, Alaska Spine Institute (filed in 2/13/08 Medical Summary, filed 2/19/08).


� 9/26/06 G. Fraser, MD, Referral Form; 10/11/06 S. Johnston, MD, Alaska Spine Institute Surgery Center, Surgical report (filed in id.).


� 3/22/06 L. Brandt, BSN, RN, Disability Case Mgmt., Intracorp, to S. Schilperoort, MD, Re: William Woodin [Schilperoort EIME Records at pages 346-348].


� See generally id.


� E.g., 6/4/08 Proceedings (testimony of W. Woodin); 4/12/07 W. Woodin, Formal Complaint filed against�Dr. Steven J. Schiperoort, filed as Exhibit 2 to the Employee Petition for Continuance of the Scheduled March 19, 2008 AWCB Hearing (filed 2/2/7/08).


� 5/9/06 S. Schilperoort, MD, Memorandum to L. Brandt, RN, re: William Woodin (filed 10/2/06).


� 8 AAC 45.120(f).  See Exhibit 3 to 2/21/08 Employee Petition for a Continuance, etc. (filed 2/27/08)(transcript of audio tape of meeting with Dr. Schilperoort). 


� A copy of the audio tape itself has not been filed with the board.


� Exhibit 3 at pages 2-5, 8-14, attached to 2/21/08 Employee Petition for Continuance, etc. (filed 2/27/08).


� Id. at pages 16-18.


� 9/27/06 Controversion (filed 10/2/06).


� 7/20/08 Oregon Statesman Journal, Obituary published at  � HYPERLINK "http://community.statesmanjournal.com/obituaries/" �http://community.statesmanjournal.com/obituaries/�


obituary.php?id=74735 (printed and filed July 21, 2008).


� The employee also filed objections to the pre-hearing conference summaries on the same grounds (dated 2/26/07, filed 2/27/07).


� The claim forms for Items 7 through 11 as signed are dated March 2, 2007, but each has an attached narrative that is dated March 5, 2007.


� This petition was mooted by the cancellation of the March 19, 2008 hearing on other grounds.  See 3/12/08 J. Cohen, WCO, Letter to W. Woodin, et al.


� This petition was moot before it was filed, as Ms. Walsh had resigned a month beforehand.  5/5/08 Affidavit of Robert L. Griffin in Opposition to Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing, at 2, ¶2.C (filed 5/5/08).


� 11/30/06 M.E. Walsh, Notice of Pre-Hearing Conference.


� 1/17/07 Letter, J. Skogen, legal sec’y, Griffin & Smith, to P. Graham, AWCB and W. Woodin (filed 1/18/07).


� See Exhibits 4 and 6 to 2/21/08 Employee Petition for a Continuance etc. (filed 2/27/08).


� 2/13/07 Pre-Hearing Conference Summary (served 2/20/07).


� The parties resolved disagreement about the bolding of text on a Health Insurance Records release; the employer’s representative withdrew the Social Security earning information, employment record, and Social Security benefits releases.  The employer agreed to modify the Worker’s Compensation Records release to make it body part specific, with bolding.  See “Medical Release” attached to 2/14/07 C.Niemann, Griffin & Smith, Facsimile transmission to M.E. Walsh, WCO (received 2/14/07).  A copy of the general medical release the employee was ordered to sign is attached as Appendix 2 to this decision.  This release was actually a hybrid general medical release, with limitation to body part specified of the “spine and right lower extremity”(the limitation is found in the middle of the text of the release, and is not bolded), addressed to “[a]ny doctor, medical provider, hospital [etc.]” and also listing 23 specific entities (and the AWCB).  See Appendix 2.


� See 10/31/06 J. Tatum, Griffin & Smith, Letters to S. Johnston, MD, et al. attached to 2/15/07 C. Niemann, Griffin & Smith, Letter to W. Woodin.


� 2/13/07 Transcript of Pre-Hearing Recorded by William Woodin.


� 2/14/07 C. Niemann, Griffin & Smith, Letter to M.E. Walsh, WCO, AWCB, with attachment (see Note 2).


� 2/15/07 C. Niemann, Griffin & Smith, Letter to W. Woodin (with attached five records request letters sent to the employee’s medical providers).


� 2/15/07 Pre-Hearing Conference Summary, at pages 2-3.


� 8 AAC 45.120(f).


� Id., 2/13/07 Transcript of Pre-Hearing, at page 74, line 6 to page 75, line 24.


� Tape labeled “2/13/07 Pre-Hearing Conference – Side 2 of 2 (tape counter 335-360).  The employee describes a bellicose-sounding belch on the tape; it sounded more to the panel like a groan made while stretching.  (Tape counter 345).


� 4/18/07 Letter, C. Niemann, Griffin & Smith, to M.E. Walsh, WCO, AWCB (filed 4/18/07), with attachments.


� 5/3/07 M.E. Walsh, WCO, Notice of pre-hearing conference.


� 4/23/07 Affidavit of W. Woodin (filed 4/24/07).


� 5/6/07 W. Woodin, Letter to M.E. Walsh, WCO (filed 5/8/07).


� 5/10/08 M.E. Walsh, WCO, to W. Woodin.


� 5/24/07 Pre-Hearing Conference Summary (served 5/25/07).


� 5/29/07 Affidavit of W. Woodin (filed 6/11/07).


� 9/12/07 First Discovery Requests to Applicant (filed 9/14/07).


� 9/21/07 S. Woodin, Letter to Griffin & Smith (filed 9/24/07).


� 5/25/07 M.E. Walsh, WCO, Notice of Pre-Hearing Conference (setting pre-hearing for 6/29/07); 6/11/07 M.E. Walsh, WCO, Notice of Pre-Hearing Conference (re-setting pre-hearing conference for 11/7/07).


� 11/7/07 Pre-Hearing Conference Summary (served 11/7/07).


� 1/23/08 Petition (filed 1/28/08)(re-served 2/5/08).


� 1/28/08 J. Cohen, WCO, Notice of Pre-Hearing Conference (for 3/10/08); 2/3/08 W. Woodin, Letter to AWCB (filed 2/6/08)(requesting re-setting); 2/19/08 J. Cohen, WCO, Notice of Pre-Hearing Conference (for 3/13/08); 2/3/08 [sic] W. Woodin, Letter to AWCB (filed 2/27/08)(again requesting re-setting).


� 2/19/08 Hearing Notice.


� 2/25/08 ARH (referring to “petition dated 2/5/08”).


� Undated Employee Response to Employer’s 1/23/08 Petition to Board to Compel Employee to Respond to Discovery Requests (filed 2/27/08)(unsigned).


� 2/21/08 Petition (filed 2/27/08, as Exhibit 5 to 2/21/08 Employee Petition for a Continuance etc.).


� Exhibit 1 to 2/21/08 Employee Petition for a Continuance, etc. (filed 2/27/08).


� Id., Exhibit 2.


� Id., Exhibit 3.


� Id., Exhibits 4 and 6.


� 3/5/08 ARH (filed 3/7/08); 4/24/08 ARH (filed 4/24/08).  The March 5, 2008 ARH was premature as to the five claims (dated 3/2/08 and 3/5/08), which were not filed with the board until 3/8/08, after the filing of the employee’s ARH on those claims, and less than 20 days after the filing of the claims.  See 8 AAC 45.070(b)(2) (prohibiting filing an ARH on a claim or petition prior to the filing of an answer to the claim or petition, or the passage of 20 days after service, whichever occurs first). 


� 5/5/08 Affidavit of Robert L. Griffin in Opposition to Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing (filed 5/5/08).


� The employer’s counsel asserted, without refutation by the employee, that “Ms. Walsh terminated her employment with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board voluntarily one month before, prior to the employee’s filing of his Petition” to discharge Ms. Walsh.  5/5/08 Affidavit of Robert L. Griffin in Opposition to Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing, at page 2, Para. 2.C (filed 5/5/08).


� 6/4/08 Hearing (argument of W. Woodin).


� AWCB Dec. No. 99-0016 (Jan. 20, 1999).  At hearing, the employer alluded to another board decision, with former hearing officer (now Administrative Law Judge) Rebecca Pauli as presiding chair, but we have not found any such decision 


� Sheehan v. University of Alaska, 700 P.2d 1295, 1297 (Alaska 1985); Tobeluk v. Lind, 589 P.2d 873, 878 (Alaska 1979) (footnote omitted).  


� Manthey v Collier, 367 P.2d 884 (Alaska 1962).


� Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1049 (Alaska 1978) (footnotes omitted).


� E.g., Capital Info. Group v. Off. of the Governor, 923 P.2d 29, 41 (Alaska 1996)(applying abuse of discretion standard to claim that trial court judge’s failure of self-recusal created the appearance of impartiality); Perotti v. State, 806 P.2d 325, 327 (Alaska App. 1991)(reviewing claim of judicial bias under abuse of discretion standard).


� AT&T Alascom v. Orchitt, 161 P.3d 1232, 1239-40 and 1246 (Alaska 2007)(presumption of honesty and impartiality of AWCB personnel, rejecting due process claim of employer absent proof of actual bias or prejudgment), citing Bruner v. Petersen, 944 P.2d 43, 49 (Alaska 1997)(no showing of actual or probable bias by university official in resolving dispute about academic action), in turn citing Earth Res. Co. v. State, 665 P.2d 960, 962 n. 1 (Alaska 1983).


� See Carr v. Carr, 152 P.3d 450, 459 (Alaska 2007)(determining actual bias claim considering “the totality of the relevant circumstances and facts.”); AS 23.30.135. 


� Rodvik v. Rodvik, 151 P.3d 338, 343 (Alaska 2006 )(“abuse of discretion only when it is ‘plain that a fair-minded person could not rationally come to that conclusion on the basis of the known facts’ ”), quoting Amidon v. State, 604 P.2d 575, 577 (Alaska 1979).


� Deatherage v. City of Ketchikan, AWCB Dec. No. 06-0122 (applying preponderance-of-evidence standard).  See also Vaska v. State, 955 P.2d 943, 946-47 (Alaska App. 1998)(establishing preponderance-of-evidence standard in remanding decision on whether law clerk’s conduct violated actual or appearance of bias standard in criminal adjudication).  See also Long v. Long, 816 P.2d 145, 156 (Alaska 1991).  Much of the bias jurisprudence by the Alaska Supreme Court involves the procedural posture of reviewing the trial court’s denial of a recusal motion, because under AS 22.20.020, must be presented first to the trial court judge.


� Municipality of Anchorage v. Faust, AWCAC Dec. No. 78, at App. 1, page 28 (May 22, 2008), citing Capital Information Group v. State, Off. of the Governor, 923 P.2d 29, 41 (Alaska 1996).


� Deatherage v. City of Ketchikan, AWCB Dec. no. 06-0112 (May 5, 2006), at page 17.


� Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1382-83 (Alaska 1991).


� Deatherage v. City of Ketchikan, AWCB Dec. no. 06-0112 (May 5, 2006).


� Meza v. Alyeska Seafoods, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 89-0122 (May 19, 1989).


� Wright v. Peninsula Correctional Health Care, AWCB Decision No. 95-0139 (May 26, 1995).


� 816 P.2d at 1382-83.


� Deatherage, AWCB Dec. No. 06-0112, at pages 15-17.   In Deatherage, the WCO issued subpoenas for deposition at the employer’s counsel’s request, at a time when no claim had been filed.  Under a line of board decisions starting with Arline v. Evergreen Int’l Aviation, Inc., AWCB Dec. No. 98-0221 (Aug. 24, 1998), the board has ruled that an employee cannot be compelled to engage in formal discovery, including a deposition, prior to the filing of a claim.  The WCO in Deatherage apparently learned of the Arline doctrine after issuing the subpoenas, and so he subsequently quashed them on his own motion.  The employer argued that this sua sponte action of quashing the subpoena of the pro se employee was improper advocacy on the employee’s behalf, and partial. 


� Meza at 3.


� We considered the transcripts and tapes of the pre-hearing conference because the parties did not object to their submission as part of the record.  However, the parties have not briefed, and we do not decide, whether a secret recording of an informal pre-hearing conference is admissible over  the objection of one of the parties who was not informed of the recording.  Audio recording of pre-hearings is allowed by the board’s regulations, 8 AAC 45.065(g), but the panel views the intent of this regulation to envision recordings made with the knowledge of other participants at the pre-hearing conference. 


� We view Ms. Walsh’s subsequent part-time employment by Griffin & Smith as irrelevant in the absence of evidence that Ms. Walsh modified her decision in exchange for employment, and in the absence of evidence as to when Ms. Walsh negotiated her employment with Griffin & Smith.  The circumstance of Ms. Walsh’s employment by Griffin & Smith presents a matter potentially for analysis under the Alaska Executive Branch Ethics Act, but no party has asked us to analyze the applicability of that Act, nor our jurisdiction to do so.  See Travers v. Yen King Chinese Restaurant, AWCB Dec. No. 98-0197 (July 30, 1998)(finding no violation of Ethics Act).


� Camero v. United States, 375 F.2d 777, 780-81, 179 Ct. Cl. 520 (1967)(emphasis added), quoted in Koons, 816 P. 2d at 1382.


� E.g., Long, 816 P.2d at 156.


� See Koons 846 P.2d at 1383 (affirming trial court’s remand to the board for new hearing before a different panel).


� See, e.g., Yarborough v. Fairbanks Resource Agency, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 01-0229 (November 15, 2001).


� See also 8 AAC 45.065(a)(10); .


� See, e.g., Palmer v. Air Cargo Express, AWCB Decision No.  05 - 0222 (August 30, 2005);


Logan v. Klawock Heenya Corp., AWCB Decision No. 02-0078 (May 2, 2002).


� Schwab V. Hooper Electric, AWCB Decision No. 87�0322 at 4, n.2 (December  11, 1987); citing United Services Automobile Association v. Werley, 526 P.2d 28, 31 (Alaska 1974); see also, Venables v. Alaska Builders Cache, AWCB Decision No. 94-0115 (May 12, 1994).  


� Brinkley v. Kiewit�Groves, AWCB Decision No. 86�0179 at 5 (July 22, 1986).


� See, e.g., Sullivan v. Casa Valdez Restaurant, AWCB Decision No. 98-0296 (November 30, 1998); McCarrol v. Catholic Public Social Services, AWCB Decision No. 97-0241 (November 28, 1997). 


� Austin v. Tatonduk Outfitters, AWCB Decision No. 98-0201 (August 5, 1998); AS 23.30.135(a).


� See, e.g., Smith v. Cal Worthington Ford, AWCB Decision No. 94-0091 (April 15, 1994).


� See Smith v. CSK Auto, Inc., AWCB Dec. No. 06-0134 (May 25, 2006), pet. for extr. rev. den., AWCAC Dec. No. 017 (Aug. 28, 2006).


� 45 CFR § 164.508(c) (2007)(emphasis added).


� 45 CFR § 164.508 (c)(v) (2007).


� 2/13/07 Pre-Hearing Conference Summary at page 3.


� Schwab V. Hooper Electric, AWCB Decision No. 87�0322 at 4, n.2 (December  11, 1987); citing United Services Automobile Association v. Werley, 526 P.2d 28, 31 (Alaska 1974); see also, Tate v. Key Bank National Ass’n, AWCB Decision No. 03-02000 (August 22, 2003), and Venables v. Alaska Builders Cache, AWCB Decision No. 94-0115 (May 12, 1994).  


� See, e.g., Palmer v. Air Cargo Express, AWCB Decision No. 05-0222 (August 30, 2005).


� Ammi v. Eagle Hardware,Final Decision WCAC Appeal No. 05-004 (February 21, 2006), at 12-13. 


	� Travers v. Take Out Taxi, AWCB Decision No. 96-0306 (July 29, 1996).


� Schilperoort EIME Records at pages 336-345.  The records before Dr. Schilperoort, after May 24, 2001 were limited to two reports of MRI (10/27/05) and a single chart note by Dr. Boone (1/4/06), a total of three pages.


� The employee has not submitted the audio tape of the interview itself, and has not signed the transcripted statement prepared by the Alaska Department of Commerce.  See Exhibit 3 to 2/21/08 Employee Petition for a Continuance of the Scheduled March 19, 2008 AWCB Hearing (filed 2/27/08). 


� E.g., Caples v. Valdez Creek Mining Co., AWCB Dec. No. 89-0280 (Oct. 20, 1989)(employee’s refusal to attend EIME unless employee’s attorney allowed to attend, or unless allowing a court reporter and videographer, found to obstruct EIME justifying suspension of benefits under AS 23.30.095(e)).


� See Schilperoort EIME Records at 329-357 (showing gaps in treatment records from 2001 to 2005, with only three pages of treatment records for 2005 and 2006).


� See 8 AAC 45.082(c)(4)(B) (entitling employee to additional change of physician without employer’s consent, if treating physician refuses to treat further).


� See, e.g., Hayes v. Guardian Security Systems, Inc., AWCB Dec. No. 01-0241 (Nov. 28, 2001)(prohibiting employee’s attorney from attending SIME for purpose of videotaping the examination); Eggleston v. BP Alaska Exploration, Inc., AWCB Dec. No. 89-0280, at page 5, citing and following  Caples v. Valdez Creek Mining Co., AWCB Dec. No. 89-0280 (Oct. 20, 1989)(“Allowing recording devices at an EME has the potential of turning the medical examination into ‘mini-depositions dominated by legal theatrics rather than medical fact finding. .  .  .   This











of course, assumes that doctors will even agree to do these exams under such onerous conditions.”  Langfeldt-Haaland v. Saupe Enterprises, 768 P.2d 1144, 1148 (Alaska 1989)(Moore, J. dissenting). . . .”).


� Attendance of attorneys or lay representatives at EIMEs and SIMEs has been examined and rejected in the board’s past decisions.  Hayes, Eggleston, and Caples, supra.


� The decision resolves the employer’s 10/30/06 petition.  This decision also resolves Items 4) – 6) of the employee’s pending claims and petitions.  Items 12) and 13) are moot.
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